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COMPLAINT 

1. This complaint is filed pursuant to 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(1) and is based on 

information and belief that Pacific Atlantic Action Coalition (“PAAC”), Pacific 

Environmental Coalition (“PEC”), and any person(s) who created, operated, and/or 

made contributions to or in the name of PAAC or PEC (John Doe, Jane Doe, and 

other persons) have violated Section 30122 of the Federal Election Campaign Act 

(“FECA”), 52 U.S.C. § 30101, et seq. 

2. PAAC, a 501(c)(4) nonprofit organization, formed on May 21, 2018, within weeks 

received $430,000 from a single source—its only donation at the time—and then 

weeks later contributed $200,000 to the super PAC Senate Majority PAC (“SMP”). 

PEC, another 501(c)(4), formed in September 2019, and in February 2020 gave 

$300,000 to the super PAC Unite the Country and $250,000 to the super PAC 

VoteVets, and in May 2020, gave $500,000 to the super PAC SMP. PAAC and PEC 

have the same address, the same incorporator, the same CEO, and board members 

from the same tax consulting firm. There is no record of either group engaging in 

additional activity apart from these contributions. The temporal proximity between 

the creation of PAAC and PEC, the funding received, and their six-figure 

contributions, when viewed in the context of their overall activities, strongly suggests 

that an unknown donor or donors gave funds to PAAC and PEC for the purpose of 

secretly financing these super PAC contributions.  

3. As a result, complainants have reason to believe that any person(s) who created, 

operated, and/or contributed to PAAC and PEC violated 52 U.S.C. § 30122 by 

making contributions to these super PACs in the name of another person, namely 
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PAAC and PEC, and that PAAC and PEC both violated 52 U.S.C. § 30122 by 

knowingly permitting their names to be used for the making of such contributions.  

4. “If the Commission, upon receiving a complaint … has reason to believe that a 

person has committed, or is about to commit, a violation of [the FECA] … [t]he 

Commission shall make an investigation of such alleged violation ….” 52 U.S.C. § 

30109(a)(2) (emphasis added); see also 11 C.F.R. § 111.4(a).  

FACTS 

Facts Relevant to PAAC 

5. On May 21, 2018, PAAC was incorporated in California by James P. Joseph as a 

“nonprofit public benefit corporation” at the address at 314 Lytton Ave., Suite 200, 

Palo Alto, CA 94301,1 an address shared with the tax consulting firm Apercen 

Partners, which represents high net worth individual clients.2 According to its 

California statement of information, PAAC’s Chief Executive Officer is Matt Cohler, 

and its Secretary, Chief Financial Officer, and Registered Agent is Tom Van Loben 

Sels.3 Van Loben Sels is an attorney at Apercen Partners LLC.4  

6. Within five weeks after forming, PAAC raised $434,400 from a single donation of 

publicly traded securities, according to PAAC’s 2018 990, for its initial tax year 

                                                
1  PAAC, Articles of Incorporation, California Sec’y of State (May 21, 2018), 
https://businesssearch.sos.ca.gov/Document/RetrievePDF?Id=04151872-24253960. 
2  APERCEN PARTNERS, http://www.apercen.com/ (last visited June 24, 2020). 
3  PAAC, Statement of Information, California Sec’y of State (May 22, 2018), 
https://businesssearch.sos.ca.gov/Document/RetrievePDF?Id=04151872-24271800. Apart from the articles 
of incorporation and the 2018 statement of information, PAAC’s only other corporate document on file 
with the California Secretary of State is its 2020 statement of information, which reported the same address 
and officers that the 2018 statement of information did. PAAC, Statement of Information, California Sec’y 
of State (Apr. 16, 2020), https://businesssearch.sos.ca.gov/Document/RetrievePDF?Id=04151872-
28138207.  
4  Tom Van Loben Sels, LINKEDIN, https://www.linkedin.com/in/tom-van-loben-sels-83455010 (last 
visited June 24, 2020).  
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which ran May 21, 2018 through June 30, 2018.5 That 990 disclosed that PAAC sold 

the securities during this same period for $433,781, which constituted a $619 loss 

from the $434,400 basis; PAAC reported earning only $112 in investment income 

over the reporting period.6 This single $434,400 donation accounted for the entirety 

of PAAC’s fundraising,7 and PAAC told the IRS that “it had no other activities” 

during this period.8   

7. On July 18, 2018, less than two months after incorporation, PAAC gave $200,000 to 

SMP, from the address 314 Lytton Ave., Ste. 200, Palo Alto, CA 94301-1430.9 

8. In a determination letter dated October 15, 2019, the IRS granted PAAC tax-exempt 

status under Section 501(c)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code, with a retroactively 

effective date of May 21, 2018.10 

9. Aside from the California incorporation records and IRS records, there is no publicly 

available information about PAAC. PAAC does not appear to have a website or 

otherwise discernible public footprint: 

a. The only results produced by a Google search for “Pacific Atlantic Action 

Coalition” are those that duplicate or comment on the information contained 

in PAAC’s California incorporation records, public IRS filings, and/or the 

political contribution entry on SMP’s Commission-filed report.11  

                                                
5  PAAC, 2018 Return of Organization Exempt from Income Tax (tax year May 21, 2018 – June 30, 
2018), IRS Form 990 at 9, 13 (filed May 7, 2018) (attached as Exhibit A).  
6  Id. at 1, 9 (disclosing on lines 7a-d the sale of securities for $433,781). 
7  Id. at 9.  
8  Id. at 2 (“During its initial year ending June 30, 2018, the organization was funded but had no 
other activities.”). 
9  SMP, 2018 August Monthly, FEC Form 3X at 207 (filed Aug. 20, 2018), 
http://docquery.fec.gov/pdf/182/201808209121411182/201808209121411182.pdf. 
10  Letter from IRS to Pacific Atlantic Action Coalition (Oct. 15, 2019) (attached as Exhibit B).  
11  Search for “Pacific Atlantic Action Coalition,” GOOGLE, https://bit.ly/2ZlpUo7 (last visited June 
24, 2020). 
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b. There appear to be no social media accounts or pages under the name “Pacific 

Atlantic Action Coalition” on Twitter, Facebook, or Instagram. 

c. Research shows no evidence of other PAAC activity or of a public footprint 

beyond California, IRS, and Commission records. 

Facts Relevant to PEC 

10. On September 20, 2019, PEC was incorporated in California by James P. Joseph as a 

“nonprofit public benefit corporation” at the Apercen Partners address, 314 Lytton 

Ave., Suite 200, Palo Alto, CA 94301.12 According to its California statement of 

information, PEC’s Chief Executive Officer is Matt Cohler, and its Secretary, Chief 

Financial Officer, and Registered Agent is Melissa Carrig.13 Carrig is an attorney at 

Apercen Partners, and according to her LinkedIn profile represents high net worth 

individual clients.14 

11. On February 13, 2020, PEC gave $300,000 to the super PAC Unite the Country,15 and 

$250,000 to the super PAC VoteVets.16 Both contribution entries reported PEC’s 

address as 314 Lytton Ave., Ste. 200, Palo Alto, CA 94301-1430.17 

                                                
12  PEC, Articles of Incorporation, California Sec’y of State (Sept. 20, 2019), 
https://businesssearch.sos.ca.gov/Document/RetrievePDF?Id=04317846-26924966. 
13  See PEC, Statement of Information, California Sec’y of State (Nov. 21, 2019), 
https://businesssearch.sos.ca.gov/Document/RetrievePDF?Id=04317846-27262291.  
14  Melissa Ann Carrig, License Status, State Bar of California, 
http://members.calbar.ca.gov/fal/Licensee/Detail/210491 (last visited June 24, 2020) (showing address at 
Apercen Partners, LLC); Melissa Ann Carrig, LINKEDIN, https://www.linkedin.com/in/melissa-carrig-
592b326 (last visited June 24, 2020).  
15  Unite the Country, 2020 March Monthly, FEC Form 3X at 13 (filed Mar. 20, 2020), 
https://docquery.fec.gov/cgi-bin/fecimg/?202003209204649987. 
16  VoteVets, 2020 March Monthly, FEC Form 3X at 89 (filed Mar. 20, 2020), 
https://docquery.fec.gov/cgi-bin/fecimg/?202003209204669742. 
17  Id.; Unite the Country, 2020 March Monthly, supra note 15. 
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12. On May 14, 2020, PEC gave $500,000 to the super PAC SMP from the address 314 

Lytton Ave., Ste. 200, Palo Alto, CA 94301-1430.18  

13. Aside from the California incorporation records, there is no publicly available 

information about PEC. PEC does not appear to have a website or otherwise 

discernible public footprint: 

a. The only results produced by a Google search for “Pacific Environmental 

Coalition” are those that duplicate or comment on the information in PEC’s 

California incorporation records and/or the super PAC reports on file with the 

Commission.19  

b. There appear to be no social media accounts or pages under the name “Pacific 

Environmental Coalition” on Twitter, Facebook, or Instagram. 

c. Research shows no evidence of PEC activity or of a public footprint beyond 

California and Commission records. 

SUMMARY OF THE LAW 

Straw Donor Ban 

14. FECA provides that “[n]o person shall make a contribution in the name of another 

person or knowingly permit his name to be used to effect such a contribution and no 

person shall knowingly accept a contribution made by one person in the name of 

another person.” 52 U.S.C. § 30122. 

                                                
18  SMP, 2020 June Monthly, FEC Form 3X at 448 (filed June 20, 2020), 
https://docquery.fec.gov/pdf/718/202006209244048718/202006209244048718.pdf. 
19  Search for “Pacific Environmental Coalition,” GOOGLE,  https://bit.ly/3galhn5 (last visited June 
24, 2020).  
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15. The Commission regulation implementing the statutory prohibition on “contributions 

in the name of another” provides the following examples of “contributions in the 

name of another”: 

a. “Giving money or anything of value, all or part of which was provided to the 

contributor by another person (the true contributor) without disclosing the 

source of money or the thing of value to the recipient candidate or committee 

at the time the contribution is made.” 11 C.F.R. § 110.4(b)(2)(i). 

b. “Making a contribution of money or anything of value and attributing as the 

source of the money or thing of value another person when in fact the 

contributor is the source.” 11 C.F.R. § 110.4(b)(2)(ii). 

16. The requirement that a contribution be made in the name of its true source promotes 

Congress’s objective of ensuring the complete and accurate disclosure by candidates 

and committees of the political contributions they receive,20 and ensures that the 

public and complainant Christ have the information necessary to evaluate candidates 

for office and cast an informed vote. 

17. On April 1, 2016, then-Chairman Petersen and Commissioners Hunter and Goodman 

“provide[d] clear public guidance on the appropriate standard that we will apply in 

future matters” pertaining to allegations that an LLC corporation was used to 

facilitate a contribution in the name of another. Statement of Reasons of Chairman 

Matthew S. Petersen and Commissioners Caroline C. Hunter and Lee E. Goodman, 

                                                
20  United States v. O'Donnell, 608 F.3d 546, 553 (9th Cir. 2010) ("[T]he congressional purpose 
behind [Section 30122]—to ensure the complete and accurate disclosure of the contributors who finance 
federal elections— is plain.") (emphasis added); Mariani v. United States, 212 F.3d 761, 775 (3d Cir. 2000) 
(rejecting constitutional challenge to Section 30122 in light of the compelling governmental interest in 
disclosure). 
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MURs 6485, 6487, 6488, 6711, 6930 (April 1, 2016) at 2.21 The Commissioners 

acknowledged that the statute covers “partnerships, corporations, and other 

organizations,” id. at 7, noting that “Section 30122 prohibits a person from making a 

contribution in the name of another person, and the Act's definition of ‘person’ 

includes corporations,” id. at 12. The Commissioners advised that, in matters 

involving LLC straw donors, “the proper focus will be on whether funds were 

intentionally funneled through” a corporation “for the purpose of making a 

contribution that evades the Act's reporting requirements. If they were, then the true 

source of the funds is the person who funneled them through the corporate entity for 

this purpose.” Id. at 12; see also id. at 2. With respect to LLC straw donors, the 

relevant factors that these Commissioners indicated they would consider included 

whether:  

“there is evidence indicating that the corporate entity did not have income from 
assets, investment earnings, business revenues, or bona fide capital investments, 
or was created and operated for the sole purpose of making political contributions. 
These facts would suggest the corporate entity is a straw donor and not the true 
source of the contribution.”  

 
 Id. at 12. 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                
21   See https://www.fec.gov/files/legal/murs/6487/16044391129.pdf.   
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CAUSES OF ACTION 
 

COUNT I: 
PAAC, AND PERSONS WHO CREATED, OPERATED, AND/OR CONTRIBUTED TO PAAC, 

VIOLATED 52 U.S.C. § 30122 
 

18. PAAC formed on May 21, 2018,22 within weeks received $430,000 from a single 

source23—its only donation at the time24—and then shortly thereafter contributed 

$200,000 to SMP. Outside of this single donation, the available facts do not indicate 

that PAAC had raised independent grant income or otherwise generated sufficient 

assets or revenue to cover the $200,000 contribution at the time the contribution was 

made.25 Nor did it raise sufficient “investment earnings”: by its own admission, in its 

first tax period, PAAC earned only $112 in investment income, and then upon selling 

the donated securities reported a $619 loss.26 PAAC’s single source of funding, and 

the temporal proximity between PAAC’s creation, its funding, and its contribution, 

when viewed in the context of its overall activities, indicates that the true donor gave 

funds to PAAC for the purpose of financing the $200,000 super PAC contribution.  

19. The donation to PAAC came in the form of publicly traded securities,27 and PAAC 

financed the contribution by selling those securities,28 not by generating sufficient 

                                                
22  PAAC, Articles of Incorporation, supra note 1. 
23  PAAC, 2018 Return of Organization Exempt from Income Tax, supra note 5, at 13 (showing a 
single $434,400 contribution of publicly-traded securities given between May 21, 2018 and June 30, 2018, 
PAAC’s tax year); see also id. at 9 (disclosing on line 7a-d the sale of those securities during the same May 
21, 2018-June 30, 2018 period).  
24  Id. at 13. 
25  As a nonprofit corporation, PAAC would not have business revenue or bona fide capital 
investments. On its 2018 990, PAAC answered “no” to the question of whether it had unrelated business 
gross income of over $1,000. Id. at 5. 
26  Id. at 9.  
27  Id. at 13 (showing a single $434,400 contribution of publicly-traded securities given between May 
21, 2018 and June 30, 2018, PAAC’s tax year). 
28  Id. at 9 (disclosing on line 7a-d the sale of those securities during the same May 21, 2018-June 30, 
2018 period). 
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additional investment, business, or other revenue after its formation.29 That scheme 

may have offered tax benefits to the original donor,30 yet any tax benefit associated 

with the transaction does not change the conclusion that the stock donation was made 

for the purpose of financing the super PAC contribution.31 

20. Therefore, based on published reports, there is reason to believe that PAAC violated 

52 U.S.C. § 30122 by “[g]iving money . . . , all or part of which was provided to” 

PAAC by another person (i.e., the true contributor(s)) without disclosing the true 

source of money at the time of making the contribution to SMP. See 

11 C.F.R. § 110.4 (b)(2)(i). 

21. Based on published reports, there is reason to believe that person(s) who created, 

operated, and/or contributed to PAAC (John Doe, Jane Doe, and other persons) may 

have violated 52 U.S.C. § 30122 by “[m]aking a contribution of money . . . and 

                                                
29  As described supra ¶ 6, PAAC reported to the IRS only $112 in positive investment income and 
reported a $619 loss from the sale of the donated securities, with the basis equal to the value of the 
securities when they were given to PAAC as a contribution.   
30  See, e.g., Gregory L. Colvin, Donations of Appreciated Stock to Social Welfare and Political 
Organizations in Candidate Campaigns, TAXATION OF EXEMPTS (July/August 2004), 
https://www.adlercolvin.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/Donations-of-Appreciated-Stock-to-Social-
Welfare-Political-00084517xA3536.pdf (describing how a donor does not pay tax on the value of 
appreciated stock to a social welfare organization, but would be taxed on stock donations to a political 
organization, with the tax assessed based on the difference between the fair market value of the stock at the 
time of the transfer to the political organization and the donor's adjusted basis); see also James P. Joseph, 
Bridget M. Weiss, & Andras Kosaras, Donations of Appreciated Stock to Social Welfare and Political 
Organizations, ARNOLD & PORTER (May 25, 2016), 
https://www.arnoldporter.com/en/perspectives/publications/2016/05/donations-of-appreciated-stock-to-
social-welfare.  
31  Nor does the conclusion change because the $434,000 donation to PAAC exceeded the $200,000 
super PAC contribution; in fact, it strengthens the straw donor inference, since this is the only way that a 
straw donor scheme involving a single-donor 501(c)(4) could be executed without running afoul of tax law. 
PAAC must have a “less than primary” level of political activity in order to maintain its tax-exempt status. 
See I.R.C. §501(c)(4) (providing tax-exempt status for organizations “operated exclusively for the 
promotion of social welfare”) and Treas. Reg. §1.501(c)(4)-1(a)(2) (stating that an organization is 
“operated exclusively for the promotion of social welfare if it is primarily engaged in promoting in some 
way the common good and general welfare of the people of the community” and clarifying that campaign 
activity does not count as “the promotion of social welfare.”). Therefore, because PAAC was funded by a 
single donation, it must have raised in excess of the amount it planned to spend on campaign activity in 
order to maintain a “less than primary” level of political activity and preserve its tax-exempt status. 
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attributing as the source of the money . . . another person [namely, PAAC] when in 

fact [the person(s) who created, operated and/or contributed to PAAC was/were] the 

source,” see 11 C.F.R. § 110.4(b)(2)(ii). 

22. Based on published reports, there is reason to believe that PAAC has violated 52 

U.S.C. § 30122 by “knowingly permit[ting its] name to be used to effect such a 

contribution.” 52 U.S.C. § 30122.  

COUNT II:   
PEC, AND PERSONS WHO CREATED, OPERATED, AND/OR CONTRIBUTED TO PEC, 

VIOLATED 52 U.S.C. § 30122 
 

23. PEC was created on September 20, 2019,32 and five months later, on February 13, 

2020, gave $300,000 to the super PAC Unite the Country,33 and $250,000 to the super 

PAC VoteVets.34 

24. The temporal proximity between PEC’s formation in September and its $550,000 in 

contributions five months later, when viewed in the context of its overall activities, 

strongly suggests that it received funds for the purpose of making these contributions. 

PEC does not have a website, social media account, search engine presence, or record 

of activity, and the available facts indicate that PEC had not generated independent 

grant revenue, or accrued sufficient assets or bona fide capital investments, to cover a 

$250,000 contribution to VoteVets and a $300,000 contribution to Unite the Country 

at the time these contributions were made.  

25. Moreover, the evidence indicates that PEC and PAAC were part of a similar straw 

donor scheme, potentially involving the same true source of funds. The two entities 

                                                
32  PEC, Articles of Incorporation, supra note 12.  
33  Unite the Country, 2020 March Monthly, supra note 15, at 13. 
34  VoteVets, 2020 March Monthly, supra note 16, at 89. 
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have the same address, the same incorporator, the same CEO, board members from 

the same tax consulting firm, and similar names; moreover, both PEC and PAAC 

made six figure donations to Democratic super PACs shortly after their formation.  

26. Therefore, based on published reports, there is reason to believe that PEC violated 52 

U.S.C. § 30122 by “[g]iving money . . . , all or part of which was provided to” PEC 

by another person (i.e., the true contributor(s)) without disclosing the true source of 

money at the time of making the contributions to Unite the Country and VoteVets. 

See 11 C.F.R. § 110.4 (b)(2)(i). 

27. Based on published reports, there is reason to believe that person(s) who created, 

operated, and/or contributed to PEC (John Doe, Jane Doe, and other persons) violated 

52 U.S.C. § 30122 by “[m]aking a contribution of money . . . and attributing as the 

source of the money . . . another person [namely, PEC] when in fact [the person(s) 

who created, operated and/or contributed to PEC was/were] the source,” see 

11 C.F.R. § 110.4(b)(2)(ii). 

28. Based on published reports, there is reason to believe that PEC has violated 52 U.S.C. 

§ 30122 by “knowingly permit[ting its] name to be used to effect such a 

contribution.” 52 U.S.C. § 30122.  

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

29. Wherefore, the Commission should find reason to believe that PAAC, PEC, and any 

person(s) who created, operated, and made contributions to or in the name of these 

entities (John Doe, Jane Doe, and other persons) have violated 52 U.S.C. § 30101 et 

seq., and conduct an immediate investigation under 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(2).  







EXHIBIT A 
  



































EXHIBIT B 
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